



Book	Policy Manual
Section	6000 Finances
Title	Copy of INVESTMENT INCOME
Code	po6144 TC KMK 12-29-25
Status	First Reading
Adopted	July 9, 2018

6144 - INVESTMENT INCOME

The Board of Education authorizes the District Administrator to make investments of available monies from the funds of the District on a competitive basis in:

- A. time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank, trust company, or savings and loan association which is authorized to transact business in the State, if the time deposits mature in not more than three (3) years;
- B. bonds or securities issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by the Federal government or by a commission, board, or other instrumentality of the Federal government;
- C. bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village, town, or school district in the State;
- D. other securities authorized by 66.0603;
- E. the local government pooled-investment fund.

The purpose of the investments is to maximize the returns on the District's cash balances consistent with safety of those monies and with the desired liquidity of the investments.

Investments in U.S. Treasury securities and those other securities completely guaranteed by the Treasury as to payment of principal and interest may be purchased in any dollar amount or up to 100% of the funds available for investment. ~~available reserves.~~

All investments must mature or be redeemable within three (3) years of the date of purchase and not to exceed three (3) years.

Withdrawal of funds will be in accord with the law. The District Administration, acting in accord with the law, may sell negotiable instruments prior to maturity.

Interest derived from an investment shall be deposited, except as otherwise provided by law, in the District's General Fund.

© Neola 2025 b07

Legal 25.50, 66.0603, 67.10, Wis. Stats.



Book	Policy Manual
Section	6000 Finances
Title	Copy of STUDENT FEES, FINES, AND CHARGES
Code	po6152 TC KMK 12-29-25
Status	First Reading
Adopted	July 9, 2018
Last Revised	October 23, 2023

6152 - STUDENT FEES, FINES, AND CHARGES

The Board may levy certain charges to students to facilitate the utilization of adequate, appropriate learning materials used in the course of instruction. If the District determines that a student is in serious financial need, it may choose to provide any or all such materials free of charge. No student shall be denied any educational opportunity because of an ~~his/her~~ inability to pay any fee or charge imposed. (See also Policy 6152. 01 - Waiver of School Fees or Fines); and [DPI guidance](http://www.dpi.wi.gov/sfs/finances/budgeting/school-fees) ([HTTP://www.dpi.wi.gov/sfs/finances/budgeting/school-fees](http://www.dpi.wi.gov/sfs/finances/budgeting/school-fees)) regarding school fees.)

Materials Charge

A charge shall not exceed the combined cost of the material used, freight and/or handling charges, and nominal add-on for loss. Money received from resale of such material shall be returned to the Records Secretary with an accurate accounting of all transactions.

Fines

When school property, equipment, or supplies are damaged, lost, or taken by a student, a fine will be assessed. The fine will be reasonable, seeking only to compensate the school for the expense or loss incurred.

The late return of borrowed books or materials from the school libraries is subject to appropriate fines.

Collection of Fees and Fines

Any fees (including trip fees, rentals and purchases) or fines collected by members of the staff should be handled pursuant to Policy 6630 - Cash Handling and Deposits.

The District Administrator may waive fines or fees upon request, consistent with Policy 6152.01 Waiver of School Fees or Finds.-

In the event the foregoing ~~above~~ course of action does not result in the fee being waived ~~collected~~, and if appropriate measures do not result in collection of money owed to the District, then the Board authorizes the District Administrator to take the student and/or the student's parents to Small Claims Court for collection. The District shall not permit or elicit the assistance of volunteers in efforts to collect unpaid student fees or expenses, including food service balances.

Student/Parent Rights

Nothing in this policy restricts the right of access of a parent or student to school records or to receive copies of such records, as required by Federal and State laws.

Students Experiencing Homelessness - McKinney-Vento Act

No fine or fee shall be charged to a student identified as a student experiencing homelessness unless it is determined that the student has the ability to pay the fee or fine and that its imposition does not create a barrier to the student's ability to enroll, attend school, achieve academic success, or be identified as experiencing homelessness. Any dispute regarding a fine or a fee that is imposed, shall not delay the student's enrollment or serve as a barrier to enrollment by delaying the transfer of student records to another school or school district if applicable.

Immediate enrollment notwithstanding, the waiver of fines or fees for a student experiencing homelessness shall be extended to extra-curricular and co-curricular activities in addition as well as to academic programming.

Revised 9/9/19

Revised 11/10/21

Revised 4/13/22

T.C. 10/23/23

© Neola 2025 23-

Legal	118.55(5), Wis. Stats. 120.12(11), Wis. Stats. 120.12(17), Wis. Stats. 120.12(22), Wis. Stats. 121.54(8), Wis. Stats. http://www.dpi.wi.gov/sfs/finances/budgeting/school-fees
-------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------



Book	Policy Manual
Section	6000 Finances
Title	Copy of PURCHASING
Code	po6320 KMK 12-29-25
Status	First Reading
Adopted	July 9, 2018
Last Revised	March 12, 2025

6320 - PURCHASING

Procurement of all supplies, materials, equipment, and services paid for from District funds shall be made in accordance with all applicable Federal and State statutes, Board policies, and administrative guidelines. Standards of conduct covering conflicts of interest and governing the actions of its employees engaged in the selection, award, and administration of contracts are established in Policy 1130/7, Policy 3230/7, and Policy 4230 – Ethics and Conflict of Interest.

All procurement transactions shall be conducted in a manner that encourages full and open competition and in accordance with good administrative practice and sound business judgment.

It is the policy of the Board that the District Administrator seek at least two (2) price quotations on purchases of more than \$5,000 for a single item, except in cases of a single vendor, emergency, or when the materials purchased are of such a nature that price negotiations would not result in a savings to the District.

Competitive Bids

Purchase of and contract for projects will be subject to a competitive bid process as and when required by law. The Board reserves the right to reject any and all bids.

When the purchase of, and contract for, single items of supplies, materials, or equipment is reasonably anticipated to reach the amount of \$25,000 or more, the District Administrator shall obtain competitive bids.

Bids shall be sealed and shall be opened by the District Administrator in the presence of at least one (1) witness. A bidder may be required to submit a sworn statement regarding:

- A. financial ability to complete the contract, including the posting of a bond where appropriate or required;
- B. nature and quality of equipment to be used in performing the contract;
- C. experience and past performance in performing the contract;
- D. such other information the District deems relevant to the protection and welfare of the public in the performance of the contract or that are required by applicable law.

Such statements shall be delivered to the District no later than five (5) business days prior to the bid opening, or as directed by the applicable RFP, and shall be kept confidential by the District, except upon the written order of the person submitting the statement or on behalf of whom the statement is submitted, for the necessary use by the District in qualifying the person/bidder or the District. The statements shall be reviewed and the bidder notified if it is qualified to submit a bid.

Purchasing Items with Federal Grant Funds (See also Policy 6325 - Procurement - Federal Grants/Funds)

When purchasing items with Federal funds a District shall:

- A. give consideration to whether separating or combining purchases will provide for a more cost-effective approach to avoid acquisition of unnecessary or duplicative items;
- B. where appropriate, conduct an analysis of lease versus purchase options and the most economical and beneficial method shall be pursued;
- C. conduct an evaluation of the availability and feasibility of entering into intergovernmental agreements to procure the goods or services required on a shared basis;
- D. in the case of a time and material contract, make a determination that no other arrangement is suitable and that the contract places a ceiling price that protects the District.

General Provisions

The District Administrator is authorized to purchase all items within budget allocations. () For additional information on hiring consultants, see Policy 8125 - Consultants. **[END OF OPTION]**

~~The Board reserves the right to reject any and all bids.~~

Contracts can be awarded by the District Administrator without Board approval for any single item or group of identical items costing less than \$25,000. All other contracts, if not included in the approved budget or an amendment or revision to the budget, require Board approval prior to purchase.

~~The Board shall be informed of the terms and conditions of all competitive bids and shall award contracts as a consequence of such bids.~~

~~The District Administrator is authorized to purchase all items within budget allocations.~~

The Board should be advised, for prior approval, of all purchases of equipment, materials, and services when the purchase varies materially from the function or scope as budgeted.

The District Administrator is authorized to make emergency purchases, without prior approval, of those goods and/or services needed to keep the schools in operation. Such purchases shall be brought to the Board's attention at the next regular meeting.

In the interests of economy, fairness, and efficiency in its business dealings, the Board requires that:

- A. items commonly used in the various schools or units thereof, be standardized whenever consistency with educational goals can be maintained;
- B. opportunity be provided to as many responsible suppliers as possible to do business with the School District;
- C. a prompt and courteous reception, insofar as conditions permit, be given to all who call on legitimate business matters;
- D. where the requisitioner has recommended a supplier, the District Administrator may make suggestion alternatives to the requisitioner if, in the District Administrator's ~~his/her~~ judgment, better service, delivery, economy, or utility can be achieved by using a different supplier;
- E. upon the placement of a purchase order, the District Administrator shall commit the expenditure against a specific line item to guard against the creation of liabilities in excess of appropriations.

The District Administrator shall determine the maximum expenditure allowed without a properly signed purchase order.

Employees may be held personally responsible for anything purchased without a properly signed purchase order or authorization.

The Board may acquire office equipment by lease, installment payments, lease-purchase agreements, or by lease with an option to purchase, provided the contract sets forth the specific terms, including price, of such a purchase.

Debarred Contractors Excluded

The District shall not award any contract, agreement or subcontract for goods or services to any party that has been suspended or debarred from receiving contracts or subcontracts by the Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR).

For any contract or subcontract with a value in excess of \$25,000, the District shall verify that the contractor or subcontractor and any principle is not listed on the General Services Administration's list of debarred or suspended contractors in the Excluded Parties Listing System (EPLS) and that, if at any time during performance of the services or delivery of goods in the applicable contract, said contractor or subcontractor should be identified as a suspended or debarred entity by the General Services Administration, the contractor or subcontractor shall immediately notify the District of that fact, which shall serve as sufficient grounds to terminate the contract as the District determines is appropriate.

Revised 10/23/23

© Neola 202524

Legal 120.12(24), 66.0133, Wis. Stats.

2 C.F.R. Section 200.213; 200.318 - 200.326

48 C.F.R. Section 9.4



Book	Policy Manual
Section	6000 Finances
Title	COPY OF NONDISTRICT-SUPPORTED STUDENT ACTIVITY ACCOUNTS
Code	po6610 KMK 12-29-25
Status	First Reading
Adopted	July 9, 2018
Last Revised	April 10, 2024

6610 - NONDISTRICT-SUPPORTED STUDENT ACTIVITY ACCOUNTS

The Board authorizes the maintenance of approved student activity accounts for nondistrict-supported student activities as allowed by DPI regulations and the auditor's recommendations in accordance with GASB 84. Approval of the establishment of any student activity account for a nondistrict-supported student activity, after the student activity is approved, without District financial support, in accordance with Policy 2430 - District-Sponsored Clubs and Activities, shall be determined by the District Administrator before monies can be collected or disbursed in the name of said activity.

Definitions

The following definitions are provided for these terms within the context of this policy:

- A. District-sponsored student activity:** All student activities recognized by the District as approved co-curricular/extracurricular activities are designated as District-sponsored, including both District-supported and nondistrict-supported student activities. (See Policy 2430 - District-Sponsored Clubs and Activities and Policy 6611 - District-Supported/Sponsored Student Activity Accounts)
- B. District-supported student activity:** The District provides financial support of the student activity and exercises administrative control over dispersal of the activity's funds. (See Policy 6611 - District-Supported/Sponsored Student Activity Accounts)
- C. Nondistrict-supported student activity:** The District does not provide financial support of the student activity and does not exercise administrative control over the dispersal of funds.

Other terms are used as defined in Bylaw 0100 - Definitions.

Nondistrict-supported Student Activities

Nondistrict-supported student activity accounts are intended to provide a custodial account for an approved student activity for which the District does not provide funds (i.e., have financial involvement) or exercise administrative control over the funds. Such nondistrict-supported student activities may not be required by any course or provide any academic credit. These student activities are established for District students and may have a District-assigned and/or a District-compensated staff advisor/coach for supervisory purposes. While these student activities may use District facilities, equipment, and materials, the funds for these activities are self-managed by the students. Assistance from parents or other volunteers is permissible (see Policy 8120 - Volunteers). Fund-raising is permissible in accordance with District policies (see Policy 5830 - Student Fundraising and Policy 9700 - Relations with Non-School Affiliated Groups). Equal access shall be provided in accordance with Policy 5730 - Equal Access for Nondistrict-Sponsored Student Clubs and Activities. A District staff member may serve as an advisor/coach, but decisions regarding money must be made by the students, as long as such expenditures do not violate District policies (e.g., purchase of illegal items, purchase of nonconforming technology,

purchase from a non-approved vendor). As a fiduciary in accordance with GASB 84, the District maintains custodial accounts for the student activity, but does not determine or approve how account monies are used since financial decisions are made by the students without administrative control or endorsement from District staff.

Criteria for Nondistrict-Supported Student Activity Accounts

Nondistrict-supported student activity accounts may be established if all of the following criteria are met:

- A. The student activity account has been approved in accordance with this policy.
- B. The student activity account will be captured upon receipt and tracked to a corresponding General Ledger code for reporting, financial controls, and to accurately report for revenues and expenditures.
- C. The activity's students or student officers make all decisions regarding revenues, budgeting, and expenditures.
- D. Any request to expend money from the account must be endorsed in writing by the activity's President and Treasurer.
- E. The activity's advisor/coach is not ~~NOT~~ permitted to make decisions regarding money, nor may the advisor/coach initiate or endorse any expenditure request.
- F. The student activity account is not under the District's control, nor subject to District oversight.

General Provisions

The purpose of District-sponsored activities is to enable students to explore a wider range of individual interests than may be available in the District's courses of study but are still related to accomplishing the educational outcomes for students as adopted by the Board in Policy 2131 - Educational Outcome Goals and Expectations. District-sponsored activities must be approved in accordance with Policy 2430 - District-Sponsored Clubs and Activities or Policy 2431 - Interscholastic Athletics.

District-sponsored student activities are authorized to use the District name, logo, mascot, or any other name or slogan that would ~~which would~~ associate an activity with the District provided such use is consistent with other applicable District policies.

Student fund-raising shall be conducted in accordance with Policy 5830 - Student Fundraising and Policy 9700 - Relations with Non-School Affiliated Groups.

All collected money shall be handled, secured, and deposited in accordance with Policy 6630 - Cash Handling and Deposits. Misappropriation of activity monies, including ~~which includes~~ theft or any other misuse of monies, will result in discipline up to and including suspension, expulsion, and/or termination of employment.

Discontinued Student Activities

After one (1) full school year of inactivity, the unexpended funds of a discontinued nondistrict-supported student activity shall be transferred to the Student Council's account unless the discontinued student activity had provided other instructions for dispersal of its unexpended funds.

After one (1) full school year of inactivity, the unexpended funds of a discontinued nondistrict-supported student activity shall be transferred to the District's General Fund - Fund 10.

Revised 9/9/19

Revised 3/10/21

Revised 10/23/23

© Neola 2025 23

Legal

120.16(2), Wis. Stats.



Book	Policy Manual
Section	6000 Finances Templates
Title	CASH HANDLING AND DEPOSITS
Code	po6630 KMK 12-30-25
Status	First Reading

6630 - CASH HANDLING AND DEPOSITS

The Board requires that cash be handled in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and specific recommendations provided by the District's independent auditor. Receipts and records of all cash transactions must be maintained for accounting and auditing.

Specifically, it is prohibited to leave cash in an unsecured location overnight. All collected money shall be submitted to the school office no later than the end of the day on which the money was collected, and the money shall be secured in a () locked safe (x) designated location or night depository. If there is not access to the school office and its () locked safe (x) designated secure location or night depository, then the money shall be secured overnight in accordance with the procedures established by the District. Cash may not be removed from District premises or retained overnight by a District employee or volunteer without permission of the District Administrator.

Cash shall be accounted for and deposited in a financial institution within one (1) () business day (x) week **[END OF OPTION]** of being collected. Cash shall be counted and cross-checked by two (2) persons.

The District Administrator shall implement cash handling safeguards that include, but are not limited to, the following:

- A. () Safe combinations should always be changed whenever an employee holding that safe combination leaves employment.
- B. (x) Two or more people should be counting/verifying the cash counts (x) and ticket count reconciliation with cash counts **[END OF OPTION]** at all times.
- C. () A Cash Count Sheet that provides the names of the people counting the cash and the cash breakdown of coins, currency, checks and credit card slips should always be used.
- D. () The Cash Count Sheet should always be signed by all people counting the cash.
- E. () Bank deposit slip amounts should match the Cash Count Sheets and the deposit receipt from the bank.
- F. () Copies of the Cash Count Sheet(s), deposit slip(s), and the bank deposit receipt(s) should all be retained together for auditing purposes.

© Neola 2025 19